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FILED

11 SEP 01 PM 4:27

KING COUNTY

SUPERIOR COURT CLERK

- E-FILED

CASE NUMBER: 11-2-30233-4 SEA

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

A.G., by and through his parents, ].G. and
K.G., on his own behalf and on behalf of all
similarly situated individuals, NO.

Plaintiffs,

v. COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION)

PREMERA BLUE CROSS and LIFEWISE OF
WASHINGTON, Washington corporations,

Defendants.

. PARTIES

1. A.G. Plaintiff A.G., a thirteen year-old son and dependent of ].G.
and K.G., is a resident of King County Washington. Plaintiff is insured under a health
insurance plan issued, delivered, administered and insured by Lifewise of Washington
(“Lifewise”). Plaintiff’s coverage was through an individual policy purchased by his
parents. Plaintiff is diagnosed with autism.

2. Lifewise of Washington. Defendant Lifewise is a Washington
Corporation that does business in the State of Washington, including King County.
Lifewise is an authorized health carrier and is engaged in the business of insurance in
the State of Washington, including King County.

3. Premera Blue Cross. Defendant Premera Blue Cross (“Premera”)
is a Washington Corporation is a Washington Corporation that does business in the
State of Washington, including King County. Premera is an authorized health carrier

SIRIANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE
COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION) -1 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104
TEL. (206) 223-0303 FAX (206) 223-0246




10

11

12

13

14

16

17

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

and is engaged in the business of insurance in the State of Washington, including King
County.

4, Relationship between Lifewise and Premera.  Lifewise of
Washington is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Premera Blue Cross. Lifewise and
Premera are “alter egos.” See McKinnon v. Blue Cross-Blue Shield of Alabama, 691 F.
Supp. 1314, 1319 (1988), aff'd, 874 F.2d 820 (1989). Lifewise and Premera use the same
standard contracts, the same standard definition of “medical necessity” and the same
internal policies and procedures for determining the medical necessity of behavioral
and neurodevelopmental therapies. For the purpose of this Complaint, both are
referred to as a single defendant, “Premera.”

ll. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. Jurisdiction of this Court arises pursuant to RCW 2.08.010.

6. Venue is proper under RCW 4.12.025(1) because defendant
Premera transacts business and has an office in King County.

lil. NATURE OF THE CASE

7. On January 1, 2006, a state law known as the Mental Health Parity

Act became effective. See RCW 48.44.341; 41.05.600. The purpose of the law was to end

the false distinction between physical and mental health:

The legislature finds that the potential benefits of improved
access to mental health services are significant. Additionally,
the legislature declares that it is not cost-effective to treat
persons with mental disorders differently than persons with
medical and surgical disorders.

Therefore, the legislature intends to require that insurance
coverage be at parity for mental health services, which means
this coverage be delivered under the same terms and
conditions as medical and surgical services.

SIRIANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE
COMPLAINT (CL ASS ACTION) -2 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104
TEL. (206) 223-0303 FAX (206) 223-0246
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Final Substitute House Bill 1154 (2005 Leg.). A study by the Washington Department
of Health had concluded that insurers’ false distinction between physical and mental
health had caused thousands of Washington residents to go untreated. See Mental
Health Parity Mandated Benefits Sunrise Review, Washington Department of Health,
November 1998. The study concluded that untreated mental disorders ultimately cost
our state far more than the relatively minimal cost for providing timely and medically

necessary treatment.

8. The Act generally requires Washington health plans to cover all .

outpatient and inpatient services to treat mental disorders covered by the diagnostic
categories listed in the most current version of the diagnostic and statistical manual of
mental disorders, so long as the services are medically necessary. For all health plans
delivered, issued for delivery or renewed on or after July 1, 2010, the Act also requires
those health plans to ensure that treatment limitations on services to treat mental
disorders are the same as any such limitations imposed on other medical and surgical
services.

9. The legislature’s chosen language is purposefully broad, so as to
encompass virtually all mental disorders. The legislature rejected the option to provide
only partial parity, which would have singled out certain mental disorders for parity
while leaving others still subject to discriminatory exclusions and limitations. Instead,
the legislature designed the Act to apply equally and evenhandedly to all mental
disorders.

10.  The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4™ Ed.
Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR) is the version of the DSM that was in effect when the
legislation was passed. This version includes diagnostic categories for certain
conditions — such as mental retardation, pervasive developmental disorder, and
autism (Plaintiff's diagnosis). Thus, Plaintiff and other individuals diagnosed with

SIRTANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE

COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION) - 3 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104

TEL. (206) 223-0303 FaX (206) 223-0246
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conditions recognized in the DSM-IV-TR, are entitled to all medically necessary
outpatient and inpatient services to treat their mental disorders, as required by the
Mental Health Parity Act.

11.  Defendant Premera does not apply the Mental Health Parity Act
requirements to all services that are necessary to treat conditions listed in the DSM-IV-
TR as required by the Mental Health Parity Act. For example, Premera denied
coverage of Plaintiff's neurodevelopmental therapies to treat his autism, solely because
Plaintiff was over the age of seven (7). Premera also denies coverage of behavioral
therapies necessary to treat conditions listed in the DSM-IV-TR. Premera’s uniform
policies and practices violate the requirements of RCW 48.44.341,

12.  This lawsuit seeks to recover the benefits that have been
wrongfully denied to plaintiff and the class he seeks to represent. It also seeks a court
order declaring Premera’s policies and practices illegal and void. The lawsuit further
seeks an injunction to prevent any future or ongoing efforts by Premera to use and
enforce any policies or practices that impermissibly deny, exclude or limit its insureds’
access to medically necessary services to treat conditions recognized in the DSM-IV-TR.

IV. CLASS ALLEGATIONS

13.  Size and Definition of Class. The class consists of all individuals
who:

(1)  have been, are, or will be insured under a non-ERISA governed “health
plan,” as that term is defined by RCW 48.43.005(19), that has been or will

be delivered, issued for delivery, or renewed on or after January 1, 2006

by: (a) defendant Premera; (b) any affiliate of defendant; (c) predecessors

or successors in interest of any of the foregoing; and (d) all subsidiaries or

parent entities of any of the foregoing; and

SIRIANNI YOUTZ BPOONEMORE
COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION) - 4 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650

SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104
TEL. (206) 223-0303 FAX (206) 223-0246
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(2)  have received, require, or are expected to require behavioral and/or

neurodevelopmental therapy for the treatment of a condition listed in the
DSM-IV-TR other than (a) substance related disorders and (b) life
transition problems, currently referred to as “V” codes, and diagnostic
codes 302 through 302.9 as found in the diagnostic and statistical manual
of mental disorders, 4th edition, published by the American psychiatric
association, where the service received, required, or expected to be
required is not properly classified as skilled nursing facility services,
home i1ealth care, residential treatment, custodial care or non-medically
necessary court ordered treatment.

14.  Class Representative A.G. Plaintiff is insured under a health plan
issued by Lifewise/Premera to Washington state residents who purchase their own
health insurance. Plaintiff is diagnosed with autism, a diagnostic category in the DSM-
IV-TR. Plaintiff receives speech and occupational therapy to treat his autism. Premera
denied coverage of Plaintiff's speech and occupational therapy, asserting that the
therapy was excluded under his health insurance contract.

15.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the other members of
the class, and, through his parents, he will fairly and adequately represent the interests
of the class.

16.  Size of Class. The class of persons who have received, require, or
are expected to require neurodevelopmental and/or behavioral therapy for the
tr/eatment of a condition listed in the DSM-IV-TR, and who have \been insured, are
insured, or will be insured under health plans (as that term is defined in RCW
48.43.005(19)) issued by Premera and not subject to ERISA, is expected to number in

the thousands and is so large that joinder of all members is impracticable.

SIRIANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE

COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION) -5 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650
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17.  Common Questions of Law and Fact. This action requires a
determination of whether Premera’s application of policies and practices that deny,
exclude and/or limit coverage of services to treat conditions identified in the DSM-1V-
TR in health plans issued, delivered, or renewed by Premera, violates the requirements
of RCW 48.44.341. The law requires health plans to cover “mental health services”
which is defined as any medically necessary outpatient and inpatient service provided
to treat a mental disorder covered by the diagnostic categories in the DSM-IV-TR. See
RCW 48.44.341 (1); (2). The law renders void and unenforceable all policies or practices
that wholly exclude or establish treatment limitations greater than that for medical and
surgical services for services to treat developmental disabilities listed in the DSM-IV-
TR. A determination of this issue will in turn determine whether plaintiff and the class
are entitled to a declaratory judgment pursuant to RCW 7.24 et seq., an injunction
pursuant to RCW 19.86.090, an injunction under common law, damages for breach of
contract and damages and treble damages due to violations of the Washington
Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86 et. seq.

18.  Premera Has Acted On Grounds Generally Applicable to the
Class. Premera,. by applying policies and practices that result in the exclusion and
improper limitation of certain services to treat certain conditions listed in the DSM-IV-
TR, has acted on grounds generally applicable to the class. Certification is therefore
proper under CR 23(b)(2).

19.  Questions of Law and Fact Common to the Class Ptedominate
Over Individual Issues. The claims of the individual class members are too small to
justify filing and prosecuting the claims separately. Thus, any interest that individual
members of the class may have in individually controlling the prosecution of separate
actions is outweighed by the efficiency of the class action mechanism. Upon
information and belief, there has been no class action suit filed against this defendant

SIRIANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE

COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION) -6 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104
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for the relief requested in this action for a class of non-ERISA insureds. This action can
be most efficiently prosecuted as a class action in King County Superior Court, where
defendants have their principal place of business, do business, and where the named
plaintiff resides. Issues as to Premera’s conduct in applying standard policies and
practices towards all members of the class predominate over questions, if any, unique
to members of the class. Certification is therefore additionally proper under CR
23(b)(3).

20.  Class Counsel. Plaintiff has retained experienced and competent
class counsel.

V. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

21.  During certain time periods on and after January 1, 2006, Plaintiff
and members of the class have been or will be insured under “health plans,” as that
term is defined in RCW 48.43.005(19), issued by Premera, and exempt from the
Employee Income Security Act of 1974 under ERISA § 4, 29 U.S.C. §1003.

22.  Since January 1, 2006 and continuing to the present, Plaintiff and
other members of the class have been diagnosed with conditions that are considered
mental disorders covered by the diagnostic categories in the DSM IV-TR. Plaintiff has
been diagnosed with autism, a diagnostic category in the DSM-IV-TR.

23.  Plaintiff and members of the class have sought or will seek and
have received or will receive treatment for these conditions from neurodevelopmental
therapists, behavioral therapists and/or other medical providers. Premera, however,
has refused to reimburse and/or authorize treatment for Plaintiff and other members
of the class for neurodevelopmental and behavioral therapies, and/or other services to
treat their conditions through the application of certain uniform exclusions, limitations,

internal policies and/or practices.

SIRIANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE
COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION) -7 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104
TEL. (206) 223-0303 FAX (206) 223-0246
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24.  Because the application of these uniform exclusions, limitations,
internal policies and/or practices has resulted, and continues to result, in the exclusion
or limitation of coverage for services to treat conditions listed in the DSM-IV-TR, and
because Premera has failed, and continues to fail, to provide and/or authorize such
coverage, Plaintiff and members of the class have paid for treatment rendered by these
providers out of their own pocket or face the imminent threat that they will have to do
so in the near future. Other class members have been forced to forgo necessary
treatment due to Premera’s conduct.

25.  In light of the established public and published internal policies of
Premera and the written representations by Premera to Plaintiff and other class
members, any attempt by Plaintiff or other class members to pursue administrative
remedies would have been futile.

VI. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
A. FIRST CLAIM: BREACH OF CONTRACT

26.  Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 25, above.

27.  As an insured under health insurance plans issued, delivered, and
insured by Premera, Plaintiff and the class are entitled to the full benefit of coverage
mandated by RCW 48.44.341. Premera breached its contracts by denying, excluding or
limiting coverage for services to treat developmental disabilities listed in the DSM-IV-
TR, as required by RCW 48.44.341. Plaintiff and the class are entitled to damages for
breach of contract including, without limitation, out-of-pocket losses, consequential
damages and restitution/ disgorgement.

B. SECOND CLAIM: DECLARATORY RELIEF
28.  Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 27, above.
29. Under RCW 7.24 et seq., plaintiff and the class are entitled to a

declaratory judgment determining their legal rights under their contracts. Plaintiff and

SIRIANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE

COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION )-8 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104

TEL. (206) 223-0303 FAX (206) 2230246
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the class are entitled to a declaration that Premera may not exclude coverage for
neurodevelopmental and/or behavioral therapies or otherwise apply policies or
procedures that result in the denial, exclusion or limitation to a greater extent than
other medical or surgical services of services to treat conditions listed in the DSM-IV-
TR, so long as the treatment sought is medically necessary.

C. THIRD CLAIM: VIOLATION OF THE WASHINGTON CONSUMER
PROTECTION ACT, RCW 19.86 ET SEQ.

30.  Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 29, above.

31. Premera’s repeated breaches of its insurance contracts with
plaintiff and the class, and its failure to comply with RCW 4844.341 violates the
Washington Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86 et seq. Specifically, Premera has
engaged in, and continues to engage in, unfair or deceptive acts or practices in trade or
commerce in violation of the Washington State Consumer Protection Act. Such
conduct affects the public interest, and has caused injury to the naméd plaintiff and the
plaintiff class.

32.  Plaintiff and the proposed class are entitled to an injunction under
RCW 19.86.090 to enjoin further violations of RCW 48.44.341.

33.  Plaintiff and plaintiff's class are entitled to compensatory damages,
and treble damages under RCW 19.86.090, along with costs of suit and attorney fees
due to Premera’s violations of RCW 48.44.341.

D. FOURTH CLAIM: INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

34.  Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 33, above.

35.  Plaintiff and plaintiff's class are entitled to an injunction under
RCW 19.86.090, under the common law, and under any other applicable laws, to enjoin
further violations of RCW 48.44.341 and enjoin Premera’s further breaches of its health
insurance contracts and/or its unfair or deceptive acts and practices.

SIRIANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE

COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION) ~ 9 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104

TEL. (206) 223-0303 Fax (206) 223-0246 1
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36.  Plaintiff and the plaintiff's class are also entitled to a corrective
notice by Premera affirming its obligation to provide its insureds with access to
neurodevelopmental and behavioral therapies necessary to treat their mental
disorders.

Vil. DEMAND FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiff requests that this Court:

1. Certify this case as a class action; designate the named plaintiff as
class representative and designate SIRIANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE, Eleanor Hamburger
and Richard E. Spoonemore, as class counsel;

2. Declare that Premera may not apply policies or practices that
wholly exclude or impermissibly limit services to treat conditions listed in the DSM-IV-
TR, including neurodevelopmental and behavioral therapies.

3. Enjoin Premera from further violations of RCW 48.44.341, enjoin
Premera from continuing to breach its contracts with its insureds, and enjoin Premera
from committing further unfair and deceptive acts and practices;

4. Enter judgment in favor of plaintiff and the class for damages in an
amount to be proven at trial due to Premera’s failure to provide benefits due under
health plans pursuant to RCW 48.44.341;

5. Enter judgment for damages in favor of plaintiff and the class in an
amount to be proven at trial on plaintiff's Consumer Protection Act claim against
Premera and award treble damages up to $25,000 to each class member for each
violation;

6. Award plaintiff and the class damages for Premera’s breach of
contract;

7. Award plaintiff and the class their attorney fees and costs under
Olympic Steamship and its progeny, and under the CPA; and

SIRIANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE

COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION) ~ 10 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104

TEL. (206) 223-0303 FAX (206) 223-0246
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8. Award such other relief as is just and proper.

DATED: September 1, 2011.

SIRIANNI YOUTZ
MEIER & SPOONEMORE

/s/ Richard E. Spoonemore
Eleanor Hamburger (WSBA # 26478)
Richard E. Spoonemore (WSBA #21833)

Attorneys for Plaintiff

SIRIANNI YOUTZ SPOONEMORE

COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION) - 11 999THIRD AVE, SUITE 3650
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104

TEL. (206) 223-0303 FAX (206) 223-0246 1
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THE HONORABLE MICHAEL HEAVEY
Motion Date: March 2, 2012

Hearing time: 10:00 a.m.

WITH ORAL ARGUMENT

SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

A.G., by and through his parents, J.G. and
K.G., on his own behalf and on behalf of all

similarly situated individuals, No. 11-2-30233-4 SEA

Plaintiffs,
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS

V.

PREMERA BLUE CROSS and LIFEWISE
OF WASHINGTON, Washington
corporations,

Defendants.

I. INTRODUCTION AND RELIEF REQUESTED

Defendants Premera Blue Cross and Lifewise of Washington (“Defendants™) move to
dismiss Plaintiffs’ class action complaint pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). Plaintiff A.G. alleges that
Defendants violated the Mental Health Parity Act (the “Parity Act”) when they denied A.G.
insurance coverage for neurodevelopmental therapy that A.G. claims is necessary to treat his
autism. A.G.’s complaint must be dismissed because Defendants’ denial of coverage was
entirely consistent with the terms of A.G.’s individual health insurance plan and Washington
law. A.G.s plan contains an express exclusion for neurodevelopmental therapy. That
exclusion does not violate the Parity Act because it is not subject to the Parity Act.

Neurodevelopmental therapy is subject to an earlier and separate Washington statute

that requires only group health plans to cover neurodevelopmental therapy for children under

LANE POWELL PC

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS - 1 1420 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 4100
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98101-2338
206.223.7000 FAX: 206.223.7107
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the age seven (the “Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate™). The Mandate does not apply to
individual health plans and, thus, Defendants are entitled to exclude neurodevelopmental
therapy from A.G.’s plan. The Parity Act did not trump the Neurodevelopmental Therapy
Mandate. On the contrary, after passage of the Parity Act, there have been repeated efforts to
enact new mandates that would require insurers to cover neurodevelopmental therapy for
individuals with autism—something that would not be required if, as A.G. claims, the Parity
Act already compelled insurers to cover such therapy. All of those efforts have failed.

This Court must reject A.G.’s attempt to use class action litigation to create a new
mandate that the legislature has refused to enact. Until the legislature does so, individual
health plans can continue to exclude coverage for neurodevelopmental therapy. A.G.’s plan
has always excluded coverage for neurodevelopmental therapy, and A.G.’s parents have never
paid for that coverage. Because A.G. fails to allege any conduct that constitutes a breach of
contract or violation of law, all of A.G.’s claims must be dismissed.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The complaint contains many class action allegations and legal conclusions, but very
few factual allegations related to A.G.' A.G.’s parents purchased or renewed an individual
health insurance plan issued by Lifewise of Washington. Complaint, 7 1, 4 & 24. A.G. is
covered by that individual health plan (the “Plan”). Id, 991 & 14. A.G. has autism, a mental
health disorder recognized in the fourth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of
Mental Disorders (referred to as “DSM-1V”). Jd., §f 10, 14 & 22. A.G. has received certain
neurodevelopmental therapy—specifically, speech and occupational therapy—to treat his

autism. Id., 714 & 23. Defendants have denied coverage and/or refused to reimburse

! A.G.’s factual allegations are accepted as true for purposes of this motion to dismiss
only. See Reid v. Pierce County, 136 Wn.2d 195, 201, 961 P.2d 333 (1998). Moreover,
Defendants’ motion focuses only on factual allegations pertaining to A.G. The Complaint’s
class allegations have no relevance to the legal sufficiency of A.G.’s individual claim. See
Parrish v. National Football League’s Players Ass’n, 534 F. Supp. 2d 1081, 1094 (N.D.Cal.
2007) (“Plaintiffs cannot defeat this motion to dismiss by relying on class allegations.”).

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS - 2 20 P A VO, SUTTE 4100

SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98101-2338
206.223.7000 FAX: 206.223.7107
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A.G.’s parents for A.G.’s speech and occupational therapy because benefits for
neurodevelopmental therapy are excluded by the Plan. Id, 1]“|I 11 & 14. Because it is not a
covered benefit, A.G.’s parents have paid, or will pay, for A.G.’s speech and occupational
therapy out of their own pocket. Id., 242

A.G.’s complaint asserts claims for breach of contract, declaratory relief, violation of
the Consumer Protection Act and an injunction. All of the claims are premised on the theo.ry
that Defendants’ denial of coverage for neurodevelopmental therapy violates the Parity Act.
Id.,9927,29,31 &35. A.G.’s attorneys also seek certification for a class that would include
all persons insured under a non-ERISA health plan issued by Defendants or their affiliates
who “have received, require, or are expected to require behavioral and/or neurodevelopmental
therapy for a condition listed in DSM-IV-TR ...[.]” Id, 13. The proposed class, therefore,
would include individuals who are diagnosed with different disorders than A.G., who require
different treatment than A.G., who are subject to different health plans than A.G., and whose
claims for benefits have been denied for different reasons than those applicable to A.G. The
same lawyers have filed similar class action lawsuits in state and federal court.’

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES
1. Does the Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate permit an individual health

insurance plan to exclude coverage for neurodevelopmental therapy? Yes.

2 A G. did not challenge Defendants’ denial of coverage through the Plan’s internal
complaint or appeal process, and alleges that pursuit of administrative remedies would be
futile. Complaint, §25. Defendants reserve the right to challenge A.G.’s failure to exhaust
the Plan’s appeal process. Failure to exhaust contractual remedies can be the basis for
dismissal. See Spokoiny v. Wash. St. Youth Soccer Assoc., 128 Wn. App. 794, 117 P.3d 1141
(2005); Anderson v. Enterprise Lodge No. 2, 80 Wn. App. 41, 906 P.2d 962 (1996).

3 The cases include S.F. v. Washington State Health Care Authority, et al., No. 10-2-
29400-7 SEA (King Co. Sup. Ct.); D.M. v. Group Health Coop., No. 10-2-28618-7-SEA
(King Co. Sup. Ct.); Z.D. v. Group Health Coop., No. 2:11-cv-01119-RSL (W.D.Wash. Dist.
Ct.); and J.E. v. Washington State Health Care Authority, et al.,No. (King Co. Sup. Ct.). Of
particular note, like this case, the plaintiff in the Z.D. case has alleged that a policy exclusion
for neurodevelopmental therapy violates the Parity Act. The defendant has moved to dismiss
the complaint on grounds similar to those Defendants raise here: the Neurodevelopmental
Therapy Mandate permits such an exclusion. The motion to dismiss in pending.
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2. Did the Mental Health Parity Act implicitly repeal the Neurodevelopmental

Therapy Mandate? No.
IV. EVIDENCE RELIED UPON

Defendants rely on A.G.’s Complaint. Defendants also rely on the terms of A.G.’s
insurance Plan, as well as various articles of legislative history, all of which are attached to
the Declaration of Barbara J. Duffy (“Duffy Decl.”). This Court may consider A.G.’s
insurance Plan in connection with Defendants’ motion to dismiss because A.G. refers to it in
the Complaint. Matsyuk v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 155 Wn. App. 324, 329 n. 2, 229
P.3d 893 (2010). This Court may likewise take judicial notice of legislative history and other
“legislative facts.” ER 201(b); Tobin v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus., 145 Whn. App. 607,616 n.7,
187 P.3d 780 (2008); see also 5 Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice § 201.16 (Sth ed.)
(“the term legislative facts refers to the sort of background information a judge takes into
account when determining the constitutionality or proper interpretation of a statute”).

V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

Under CR 12(b)(6), dismissal is appropriate when it appears beyond doubt that the
plaintiff can prove no set of facts, consistent with the complaint, which would justify
recovery. Burton v. Lehman, 153 Wn.2d 416, 422, 103 P.3d 1230 (2005). The court accepts
as true the allegations in the plaintiff’s complaint and any reasonable inferences therefrom.
Reid v. Pierce County, 136 Wn.2d 195, 201, 961 P.2d 333 (1998). The court, however, is not
required to accept the complaint’s legal conclusions as true. Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power
Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 120, 744 P.2d 1032, 750 P.2d 254 (1987).  Statutory
interpretation and ascertaining legislative intent are questions of law. Dep't of Ecology v.
Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). For the reasons explained

below, A.G.’s claims against Defendants must be dismissed with prejudice.
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A. Neurodevelopmental Therapy Is Specifically Excluded By The Plan.

A.G.’s claims all rest on the theory that Defendants improperly denied A.G. insurance
coverage for neurodevelopmental therapy. Complaint, 911 & 14. The complaint does not,
however, describe the basis for the denial. The basis was straightforward. The Plan expressly

excludes coverage for neurodevelopmental therapy. The Plan states in relevant part:
EXCLUSIONS

This section of the contract lists those services, supplies or drugs [that]

are not covered under this plan.
* * *

Learning Disorders and Neurodevelopmental Therapy

Services, therapy and supplies related to the treatment of learning
disorders, cognitive handicaps, dyslexia, developmental delays or
neurodevelopmental disabilities.

Duffy Decl., Exh. A, pp. 30-31 (the “Neurodevelopmental Therapy Exclusion”). Although
the Plan was amended in 2008 and 2010 to provide certain coverage for “Mental Health Care”
to comply with the Parity Act, the Neurodevelopmental Therapy Exclusion was not deleted or
revised. Id., Exh. B (January 1, 2008 endorsement); Exh. C (January 1, 2010 endorsement).
Indeed, the Neurodevelopmental Therapy Exclusion has been part of A.G.’s Plan from the
time his parents purchased it. Given this plain and unambiguous Plan language, A.G. cannot

state a valid claim for breach of contract or any other theory.

B. The Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate Allows Individual Health Plans To
Exclude Neurodevelopmental Therapy.

Defendants’ Neurodevelopmental Therapy Exclusion is entirely consistent with the
Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate. In 1989, the Washington legislature enacted an
insurance mandate requiring certain health plans to cover “neurodevelopmental therapies.”
1989 Laws, ch. 345. This Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate has two important aspects:
(1) the Mandate applies only to certain group health plans and to the public employee health

plan; and (2) the Mandate applies to “occupational therapy, speech therapy, and physical
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therapy.” RCW 41.05.170; RCW 48.21.310; RCW 48.44.450; RCW 48.46.520. There is no
Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate for individual health plans. By limiting the Mandate
in this way, the legislature specifically elected to allow individual health plans, like the Plan at
issue here, to exclude neurodevelopmental therapies.

The Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate requires dismissal of A.G.’s claims. A.G.
seeks coverage only for “neurodevelopmental therapies” and, specifically, for “speech and
occupational therapy™ to treat his autism. Complaint, Y 11, 14 & 23. Those precise benefits
are expressly addressed by the Mandate. The legislature determined that group health plans
must cover those therapies for children under the age of seven, but it refused to require
individual health plans to do so.* While Defendants can provide coverage greater than what is
required by the Mandate, they are not required to do so. Liljestrand v. State Farm Mut. Auto
Ins. Co., 47 Wn. App. 283, 290 (1987). Like any other non-mandated benefit, Defendants
were free to exclude or provide coverage for neurodevelopmental therapy, and A.G.’s parents
were free to choose a different plan if they wanted different coverage. In short, the
Neurodevelopmental Therapy Exclusion does not violate Washington law because it is
expressly permitted by the Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate.

C. The Parity Act Did Not Trump The Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate.

The Complaint does not mention the Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate, even
though it addresses the precise benefits A.G. seeks. Instead, A.G. alleges that Defendants’
Neurodevelopmental Therapy Exclusion violates a different insurance mandate—the Parity
Act. The Parity Act was first enacted in 2005, but did not include individual health plans until

2007. 2007 Laws, ch. 8. The Act requires plans that cover medical and surgical services to

4 Where it applies, the Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate mandates coverage only
for children six and under. See, e.g., RCW 48.44.450(1). A.G.’s complaint implies that
Defendants® Neurodevelopmental Therapy Exclusion applies only to individuals over the age
of six. Complaint, ] 11. That is incorrect. Because the Mandate only applies to group health
plans, but not individual health plans, Defendants are entitled to, and do, exclude coverage for
neurodevelopmental therapy regardless of age. See Duffy Decl., Exh. A, pg. 31.
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also provide coverage for “mental health services” to individuals diagnosed with a condition
listed in DSM-IV. RCW 48.44.341(1). The Parity Act mandates this coverage in phases. For
plans issued or renewed after January 1, 2008, the Act generally requires only that the co-pay
for mental health services be no more than the co-pay for medical and su;gical services.
RCW 48.44.341(2)(b)(ii). For plans issued or renewed after July 1, 2010, the Act also
requires that treatment limitations on coverage for mental health services be the same as those
imposed on coverage for medical and surgical services. RCW 48.44.341(2)(c)(i).

A.G.’s theory must be rejected because Defendants could not both lawfully follow the
Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate and unlawfully violate the Parity Act at the same time.
In effect, A.G. asks this Court to conclude that the legislature intended the Parity Act to
abrogate the Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate where, as here, the covered individual is
diagnosed with a DSM-IV condition. But nothing in the text of the Parity Act text nor its
history shows a legislative intent to do so; indeed, there is no reference to the Mandate in
either. RCW 48.44.341; Duffy Decl., Exh. D.> Nor can this Court conclude that the Parity
Act repeals the Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate by implication. “Authority is legion
that implied repeals of statutes are disfavored and courts have a duty to interpret statutes so as
to give them effect.” Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405 v. Brazier Constr. Co., 103 Wn.2d 111, 122,
691 P.2d 178 (1984). Thus, repeal by implication occurs only where:

(1) the later act covers the entire subject matter of the earlier
legislation, is complete in itself, and is evidently intended to supersede
prior legislation on the subject; or (2) the two acts are so clearly
inconsistent with, and repugnant to, each other that they cannot be
reconciled and both given effect by a fair and reasonable construction.

5 As noted, the Parity Act was originally enacted in 2005, but was limited to large
group health plans. It was amended in 2007 to expand the Act to small group and individual
health plans. For sake of completeness, Defendants submit the bill reports for the original
enactment (SHB 1154) and the 2007 amendment (EHB 1460). Courts may look at legislative
history to determine whether there has been a repeal by implication. See ATU Legislative
Council of Washington State v. State, 145 Wn.2d 544, 553, 40 P.3d 656 (2002).
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Id Repeal by implication “will not be found to exist where earlier and later statutes may
logically stand side by side and be held valid.” /d. at23. Thatis plainly the case here.

The Parity Act does not cover the entire subject matter of the Neurodevelopmental
Therapy Mandate. In some ways it is broader, and in other ways it is narrower. The Parity
Act covers unspecified “mental health services,” but only for plan enrollees with a DSM-IV
diagnosis. RCW 48.44.341. The Mandate covers specific services (occupational, speech and
physical therapy), but has no DSM-IV limitation. RCW 48.44.450. The Mandate, therefore,
may cover types of therapy and individuals not covered by the Parity Act. Moreover, the two
statutes can be read to logically stand “side by side.” The Mandate applies when
“neurodevelopmental therapies” are at issue; that is, occupational, speech or physical therapy
prescribed to treat a neurodevelopmental disorder. The Parity Act, on the other hand, applies
to “mental health services” other than neurodevelopmental therapies. In other words,
neurodevelopmental therapy is a medical benefit, and not a “mental health service” within the
meaniné of the Parity Act. This construction gives effect to both statutes, and aligns perfectly
with another established rule of statutory construction. It gives preference to the specific
provisions of the Mandate over the general ones of the Parity Act. See ETCO, Inc. v. Dep’t of
Labor & Indus., 66 Wn. App. 302, 305-06, 831 P.2d 1133 (1992) (apparent conflict between
statutes may be resolved by favoring specific statutory language over general language).

Subsequent legislative history supports this construction. See Spokane County Health
Dist. v. Brockett, 120 Wn.2d 140, 153, 839 P.2d 324 (1992) (subsequent proposed legislation
may be relevant to legislative intent). If the legislature intended the Parity Act to supersede
the Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate, there would be no need to enact new measures to
address neurodevelopmental therapy. Yet, since the passage of the Parity Act in 2005, there
have been repeated efforts to do just that. Some bills proposed to amended the existing
Mandate to require group plans to cover neurodevelopmental therapy for plan enrollees up to

age eighteen. See Duffy Decl., Exh. E (SB 5750 (2007)); Exh. F (SB 5756 (2011)). Another
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bill proposed a new mandate that would have required group plans to provide
neurodevelopmental therapy to enrollees up to age eighteen, and expressly required those
plans to cover that therapy when prescribed to treat autism. Id., Exh. G (HB 1412 (2009)).
Even other bills would have required group plans to specifically cover treatments for autism,
including “services provided by a speech therapist, occupational therapist, or physical
therapist”—the same therapy addressed Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate. Id., Exh. H
(SB 5203 (2009)); Exh. I (SB 5059 (2011)). Not one of these bills passed the legislature.

In sum, when the legislature enacted the Neurodevelopmental Therapy Mandate, it
carefully limited that mandate to group plans and exempted individual plans. When the
legislature enacted the Parity Act some fifteen years later, it did not expressly or implicitly
repeal the Mandate so as to require individual plans to cover neurodevelopmental therapy that
they otherwise were permitted to exclude. Subsequent failed efforts to change the law
confirm that neither the Mandate nor the Parity Act require individual plans to cover benefits
for neurodevelopmental therapy where, as here, they are sought as a treatment for autism.
This Court should reject A.G.’s claim because this Court cannot require insurance coverage
that the parties did not contract for and the legislature has refused to mandate.

VI. CONCLUSION
For all the reasons stated above, Defendants ask this Court to dismiss A.G.’s claims

with prejudice. A proposed Order has been submitted hergwith.

DATED: October 5_6011

Attorneys f gfena
and Lifewise of Washington
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that on October 11, 2011, I caused to be served a copy of the
foregoing Motion to Dismiss on the following person(s) in the manner indicated at the

following addresses:

Richard E. Spoonemore a by CM/ECF
Eleanor Hamburger a by Electronic Mail
Sirianni Youtz Meier & Spoonemore O by Facsimile Transmission
999 Third Ave., Suite 3650 O by First Class Mail
Seattle, WA 98104 ™ by Hand Delivery
O by Overnight Delivery

/s/ Janet Wiley

Janet Wiley
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THE HONORABLE MICHAEL HEAVEY

SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

A.G., by and through his parents, J.G.and )
K.G., on his own behalf and on behalf of all )
similarly situated individuals, ) No. 11-2-30233-4 SEA
)
Plaintiffs, )
) DECLARATION OF BARBARA J.
V. ) DUFFY IN SUPPORT OF
) DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS
PREMERA BLUE CROSS and LIFEWISE )
OF WASHINGTON, Washington )
corporations, )
)
Defendants. )
)
I, Barbara J. Duffy declare as follows:
1. I am a shareholder at Lane Powell PC, attorneys of record for Premera Blue

Cross and Lifewise of Washington, Defendants in the above-captioned matter, am of legal
age, competent to testify and have personal knowledge of the matters herein.

2. Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of the individual health
insurance plan that has covered Plaintiff A.G. since January 1, 2007 (the “Plan™).

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of an endorsement to
the Plan, effective January 1, 2008.

4, Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a true and correct copy of an endorsement to
the Plan, effective July 1, 2010.
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5. Attached hereto as Exhibit D are true and correct copies of the legislative bill
reports for the 2005 Mental Health Parity Act (SHB 1154) and the 2007 amendment to the
Mental Health Parity Act (EHB 1460).

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit E is a true and correct copy of SB 5760, the bill
digest for SB 5760, and the bill report for SB 5760.

7. Attached hereto as Exhibit F are true and correct copy of SB 5756 and the bill
digest for SB 5756.

8. Attached hereto as Exhibit G is a true and correct copy of HB 1412, the bill
digest for HB 1412, and the bill report for HB 1412.

9. Attached hereto as Exhibit H is a true and correct copy of SB 5203, the bill
digest for SB 5203, and the bill report for SB 5203.

10.  Attached hereto as Exhibit I is a true and correct copy of SB 5059, the bill
digest for SB 5059, and the bill report for SB 5059.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States and the State of

Washington that the foregoing is true and correct.

Dated this _Si‘aay of October, 2011, at
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on October 11, 2011, I caused to be served a copy of the
foregoing Declaration of Barbara J. Duffy on the following person(s) in the manner

indicated at the following addresses:

Richard E. Spoonemore O by CM/ECF
Eleanor Hamburger a by Electronic Mail
Sirianni Youtz Meier & Spoonemore a by Facsimile Transmission
999 Third Ave., Suite 3650 O by First Class Mail
Seattle, WA 98104 ™ by Hand Delivery
O by Overnight Delivery

/s/ Janet Wiley

Janet Wiley
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